FILED
Mar 29, 2017
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

Supreme Court No. 94319.2
Court of Appeals No. 72467-3-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

D'ANGELO SALOY,

Petitioner.

FILED

APR 04 2017

WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

PETITION FOR REVIEW

KATHLEEN A. SHEA
Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND THE DECISION BELOW

D'Angelo Saloy requests this Court grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b) of the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division One, in *State v. D'Angelo Saloy*, No. 72467-3-I, filed February 27, 2017. A copy of the opinion is attached as an appendix.

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. The Washington Privacy Act requires a police officer provide a “particular statement of facts” demonstrating that normal investigative procedures have failed or are unlikely to succeed before the State is permitted to intercept and record a private conversation. Where the State was granted permission to record a witness’s conversation with Saloy based on a general assertion that as a result of “Gang mentality and their code of ethics” it would not be able to secure witnesses for trial, and its affidavit otherwise indicated that witnesses were in fact cooperating with the State, should this Court grant review? RAP 13.4(b)(4).

2. Where a defendant makes a substantial showing that misstatements or omissions in an application to intercept and record a private conversation impact the finding of probable cause, a hearing is required. Should this Court grant review where Saloy demonstrated these misstatements and omissions were material, but the trial court refused to suppress the recording or hold an evidentiary hearing? RAP 13.4(b)(4).

3. A defendant's right to Due Process may be violated when a prosecutor intentionally or negligently delays charging and the defendant is prejudiced. If, upon a weighing of the prejudice to the defendant and the reasons offered by the State, the delay violates "the fundamental conceptions of justice," Due Process has been violated. Where the State delayed charging Saloy in order to obtain a wire recording of his private statements to friends, and Saloy lost the opportunity to be tried as juvenile as a result, should this Court grant review in the substantial public interest? RAP 13.4(b)(4).

4. As this Court recently recognized in *State v. Houston-Sconiers*,¹ the constitutionality of the automatic decline statute, RCW 13.04.030(1)(e)(v), has been called into question following *Miller v. Alabama*.² Should this Court grant review to answer the significant constitutional question of whether the statute violates the Eighth Amendment and article I, section 14? RAP 13.4(b)(3).

5. A defendant may be denied his constitutional right to a fair trial when the prosecuting attorney acts improperly and the defendant is prejudiced. Should this Court grant review in the substantial public interest where the prosecuting attorneys improperly suggested defense

¹ ___ Wn.2d ___, 2017 WL 825654 (No. 92605-1, March 2, 2017).

² 460 U.S. 567, 132 S.Ct. 2455, 2464, 183 L.Ed.2d 407 (2012).

counsel acted unethically in her contact with State witnesses? RAP 13.4(b)(4).

6. The Court of Appeals determined the prosecutor committed constitutional error when she commented on Saloy's right not to testify, but determined the error was harmless. Should this Court grant review where the error emphasized to the jurors that Saloy had not taken the stand to dispute the wire recording and signaled they could use his silence against him? RAP 13.4(b)(4).

7. Evidence must be excluded where it is irrelevant or the danger of unfair prejudice exists. The trial court erroneously admitted photos, images, and a video recording that were highly prejudicial and only demonstrated Saloy was a gang member, which was a fact undisputed at trial. It also admitted irrelevant evidence that Saloy had urinated at the site of the shooting. Should this Court grant review? RAP 13.4(b)(4).

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Five teenagers affiliated with Central District gangs were hanging out on the steps of Garfield High School on Halloween night in 2008. 7/22/14 RP 16-18, 24. A car drove by and multiple shots were fired at the teens. 7/22/14 RP 28. One of the teenagers, Quincy Coleman, was struck by two bullets and killed. 7/21/14 RP 84. Another teenager, Demario Clark, suffered two gunshot wounds but survived. 7/15/14 RP 124.

Police were immediately called to the scene, and although there were a lot of people around, there were no witnesses able and willing to identify the shooters. 7/15/14 RP 67, 88. Dana Duffy, a homicide detective with the Seattle Police Department, was assigned to the case. 7/28/14 RP 151. Her investigation initially pointed her to a man named Monroe Ezell. Pretrial Ex. 1 at 4. Rumor on the street was that Ezell had fired at least some of the shots with another young man, Ramsey Fola, who had driven the car. Pretrial Ex. 1 at 10.

Detective Duffy soon learned Ezell was upset people were saying he had participated in the shooting and pointed the finger at D'Angelo Saloy. Pretrial Ex. 1 at 21. Over the next several months, two individuals told police Saloy had told them he committed the shooting with Ramsey Fola. Pretrial Ex. 1 at 23, 26. This information conflicted with the only information provided at the scene, which described the passenger shooter as having a dark complexion. 7/30/14 RP 95; Pretrial Ex. 1 at 1 (showing photograph of Saloy, who has a light complexion).

One of the individuals who came forward, Wendall Downs, provided detailed information about Saloy's account of the shooting, even leading police to the part of Lake Washington where Saloy allegedly said he discarded the weapons. Pretrial Ex. 1 at 27.

In October 2009, Detective Duffy completed the certification of facts and forwarded it to the prosecuting attorneys. Pretrial Ex. 1 at 26. Despite having strong evidence that Saloy was making incriminating statements to his friends, the State waited to file charges and sought to obtain a wire recording of Saloy's private conversation. CP 75. After a trial court initially granted the State this authority, Downs was unable to record Saloy making these statements. CP 87-88. Later, Juan Sanchez, one of Saloy's closest friends and a fellow South End gang member, agreed to assist the State after he was informed by Immigration and Customs Enforcement (ICE) that he and his parents faced deportation unless he cooperated. 7/28/14 RP 119.

The State obtained a second authorization to intercept and record Saloy's private conversations, however the application misstated some facts and omitted others. CP 697. Sanchez successfully recorded Saloy making statements similar to those he and others had heard Saloy make before, in which Saloy claimed responsibility for the shooting. Exs. 49, 51. After the State obtained this recording, it moved forward with the charges against Saloy, alleging he committed first degree murder and first degree assault, with a firearm enhancement and gang aggravator attached to both charges. CP 1. Following Saloy's decision to go to trial, the State

amended the first degree assault charge to attempted first degree murder.
CP 585.

At trial, the State introduced extensive evidence about gangs. A detective testified that Saloy, like so many other young boys in his neighborhood, joined a “start-up gang” when he was very young. 7/31/14 RP 121.

The defective further testified that respect and power are earned in gangs by engaging in criminal activity. 7/31/14 RP 104. Thus, it is important for gang members to brag to each other about crimes they have committed. 7/31/14 RP 106. While the detective was quick to say it could be dangerous to take credit for another gang member’s crime, he acknowledged that this culture leads gang members to embellish their participation in criminal activity in order to gain respect from peers. 7/17/14 RP 107.

Saloy did not dispute his membership in a South End gang at trial. 7/31/14 RP 100. Despite the fact his gang membership was not contested, the State sought to admit a voluminous amount of “gang evidence,” which the court granted over the defense’s objections that it proved nothing more than Saloy’s undisputed affiliation with the gang, and was highly prejudicial. 7/31/14 RP 107; 7/30/14 RP 12.

Three Central District gang members testified for the State. 7/21/14 RP 125, 155; 7/22/14 RP 14. Of the three, only one witness was cooperative. 7/21/14 RP 125, 155; 7/22/14 RP 14. In each instance where the witness was uncooperative, the prosecuting attorney pointedly asked the witness if he had received a visit from defense counsel. Ex. 103 (Graves at 1, 4 Jimerson at 3). After the State rested, Saloy moved for a mistrial, explaining that this questioning, particularly as contrasted against the omission of this questioning of the cooperative witness, suggested defense counsel had acted unethically. 8/4/14 RP 11-12. The trial court denied Saloy's motion, as well as his motion in the alternative to strike the questions and answers and instruct the jury to disregard. 8/5/14 RP 9.

Saloy elected not to testify at trial. During closing argument, the State commented that only Saloy could tell the jury how many individuals were in the car the night of the shooting. 8/6/14 RP 64. Once again, Saloy moved for a mistrial, explaining the State had improperly commented on his right to remain silent. 8/6/14 RP 74. The court denied this motion. 8/6/14 RP 65.

The jury convicted Saloy of first degree murder and attempted first degree murder. CP 678, 680. It found him guilty of the firearm enhancements, but not the gang aggravators. CP 679, 681, 683, 685. At sentencing, the trial court imposed a standard range sentence of 712

months, committing Saloy to prison until around his 80th birthday. CP 689. The Court of Appeals vacated Saloy’s sentence based on the trial court’s failure to consider how his youth counseled against sentencing him to what was effectively a life sentence. Slip Op. at 2. It affirmed his convictions. Slip Op. at 2.

D. ARGUMENT IN FAVOR OF GRANTING REVIEW

1. **This Court should grant review because the affidavit for the intercept order, which allowed police to record Saloy without his consent, was legally insufficient under the Washington Privacy Act.**

a. The Court of Appeals’ holding effectively creates a “gang exception” to the Privacy Act.

The Washington Privacy Act “is one of the most restrictive electronic surveillance laws ever promulgated.” *State v. Roden*, 179 Wn.2d 893, 898, 321 P.3d 1183 (2014); *see also State v. Kipp*, 179 Wn.2d 718, 724, 317 P.3d 1029 (2014). It prohibits the recording of any “[p]rivate conversation... without first obtaining the consent of all the persons engaged in the conversation.” RCW 9.73.030(1)(b). “Evidence obtained in violation of the act is inadmissible for any purpose at trial.” *Kipp*, 179 Wn.2d at 724; RCW 9.73.050.

The act permits a police officer to intercept and record a conversation to which one party has given consent, but only when the officer obtains court approval in advance and the officer’s application

satisfies several statutory conditions. *Kipp*, 179 Wn.2d at 725; RCW 9.73.090(2); RCW 9.73.130. For example, the officer must provide “[a] particular statement of facts showing that other normal investigative procedures with respect to the offense have been tried and have failed or reasonably appear to be unlikely to succeed if tried or to be too dangerous to employ.” RCW 9.73.130(3)(f).

The Court of Appeals wrongly determined Detective Duffy satisfied this condition when she expressed her belief in the affidavit that “[d]ue to the Gang mentality and their code of ethics” it was unlikely any witness would come forward and testify against another gang member. Slip Op. at 9; *see also* Slip Op. at 10 (finding the State could not rely on the witnesses who had come forward because they were “Saloy’s friends and fellow gang members”). The court’s decision effectively carves out an exception to the Privacy Act for gang-related cases as, based on the court’s analysis, an intercept order would be properly granted in every case where the only witnesses for the State were also members of a gang.

In addition, the other facts Detective Duffy presents in her affidavit directly contradict her claim that the State would be unable to count on its witnesses to appear for trial. Detective Duffy asserted Saloy had already confessed to Sanchez, and Sanchez had “self initiated to assist” in the investigation in an attempt to prevent his family from being deported from

the United States. CP 90. She also asserted two other individuals, Dewaun Miller and Wendell Downs, reported to police that Saloy had told them he committed the shooting. CP 84-85. She described how Downs made repeated contacts with the police and provided extensive information. CP 85-87. In fact, Downs previously agreed to participate in a recorded conversation with Saloy but this did not occur before the court's prior order, authorizing this recording, expired. CP 87-88.

Thus, not only did her affidavit demonstrate Sanchez was ready and willing to testify against Saloy at trial, but that at least one additional witness, Wendall Downs, was willing to do so as well. The affidavit suggests that the State simply preferred to have Saloy's statements recorded in order to strengthen its case.

- b. The Privacy Act prohibits the State from recording a private conversation simply because it would be advantageous to its case.

The State may not circumvent the Privacy Act on the basis that a recording would assist it in obtaining a conviction. As the Court of Appeals acknowledged, an affidavit which "merely support[s] the truism that having a recording to play at trial is advantageous to the State in obtaining a conviction" is not sufficient for a trial court to authorize the interception and recording of a private conversation. *State v. Manning*, 81 Wn. App. 714, 720, 915 P.2d 1162 (1996); Slip Op. at 10. "The

desirability of avoiding a ‘one-on-one’ swearing contest” does not satisfy the requirements of the statute. *Id.*; Slip Op. at 10.

Despite this acknowledgement, the Court of Appeals relied on *State v. Platz*, 33 Wn. App. 345, 655 P.2d 710 (1982), to find Detective Duffy’s affidavit was adequate. Slip Op. at 11. In *Platz*, the court found an application for an intercept order was adequate where the defendant revealed to an undercover officer he had killed someone, and the murder had remained unsolved for nine months. 33 Wn. App. at 347, 350. Based on its prior holding in *Platz*, the Court of Appeals held here that it was appropriate to consider the State’s desire to avoid a one-on-one swearing contest, as long as that consideration was secondary. Slip Op. at 11; *Platz*, 33 Wn. App. 350.

The problem with this conclusion is twofold. First, Detective Duffy’s affidavit reveals that the State’s desire to gain an advantage at trial was the primary consideration for seeking the order. Multiple witnesses had indicated their willingness to help the police, and the fact that they were witnesses to Saloy’s statements, rather than the crime itself, does not alter the analysis under the Privacy Act. The desire to avoid conflicting accounts at trial was not a secondary consideration here.

Second, the court’s holding in this case chips away at the plain requirement in RCW 9.73.130, which mandates that the State demonstrate,

through a particular statement of facts, that normal investigative procedures have either tried and failed, appear to be unlikely to succeed, or are too dangerous to employ. RCW 9.73.130(3)(f). As the Court of Appeals previously recognized, “[t]he requirement for a ‘particular statement of facts’ reflects the Legislature’s desire to allow electronic surveillance under certain circumstances but not to endorse it as routine procedure.” *Manning*, 81 Wn. App. at 720. If all that was required from the State in gang-related cases was a showing that a recorded statement from the suspect would be advantageous at trial, electronic surveillance would become the norm, rather than the exception, in that type of case. The Privacy Act makes no such exception, and explicitly seeks to prevent this outcome by requiring the State demonstrate, in *all* cases, that normal investigative procedures cannot be utilized. RCW 9.73.130(3)(f).

Detective Duffy’s affidavit failed to satisfy this provision. The Court of Appeals’ holding to the contrary raises an issue of substantial public interest and this Court should accept review. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

2. This Court should grant review because the trial court should have granted Saloy’s request for a *Franks* hearing.

The warrant clause of the Fourth Amendment requires that, absent certain exceptions, police must obtain a warrant based upon probable cause from a neutral and disinterested magistrate before embarking on a

search. *Franks v. Delaware*, 438 U.S. 154, 164, 98 S.Ct. 2674, 57 L.Ed.2d 667 (1978). Because Detective Duffy made false statements in her affidavit and omitted material facts, the trial court wrongly denied Saloy's request for a *Franks* hearing. This Court should accept review. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

3. Saloy's right to Due Process was violated by prosecutorial delay and this Court should grant review.

Saloy was only 16 years old at the time of the shooting, but was 20 years old when the State charged him. Pretrial Ex. 1 at 1; CP 1. Where a defendant is alleged to have committed a crime before age 18, but is charged after his eighteenth birthday, his right to Due Process is implicated where the State's delay was intentional or negligent. *State v. Salavea*, 151 Wn.2d 133, 138, 86 P.3d 125 (2004); U.S. Const. amends. V, XIV; Const. art. I, § 3.

To determine whether a claim for unconstitutional prosecutorial delay succeeds, this Court must apply a three-prong test: (1) the defendant must show the charging delay caused prejudice; (2) once prejudice is shown, this Court must examine the State's reasons for the delay; (3) this Court must then balance the State's reasons for the delay against the prejudice suffered by the defendant to determine if the delay violates "the fundamental conceptions of justice." *Id.* at 139; *State v. Oppelt*, 172

Wn.2d 285, 295, 257 P.3d 654 (2011); *Mooney v. Holohan*, 294 U.S. 103, 112, 55 S.Ct. 340, 342, 79 L.Ed. 791 (1935); Slip Op. at 23-24.

- a. Saloy suffered actual prejudice because the automatic decline statute is unconstitutional under the Eighth Amendment and article I, section 14.

A defendant demonstrates he was actually prejudiced when the prosecutorial delay causes a loss of juvenile court jurisdiction. *Maynard*, 183 Wn.2d at 259; *Salavea*, 151 Wn.2d at 139. This Court previously held, relying on *In re Boot*, 130 Wn.2d 553, 570-71, 925 P.2d 964 (1996), that a teenage defendant cannot demonstrate prejudice where he would have been subject to RCW 13.04.030(1)(e)(v), or the automatic decline statute, as he would not have been tried in juvenile court regardless of the State's delay. *Salavea*, 151 Wn.2d at 146.

However, as this Court recently acknowledged in *State v. Houston-Sconiers*, the decision in *Boot* now "stands in tension with the Supreme Court's holdings in *Roper*, *Graham*, and *Miller*." __ Wn.2d __, 2017 WL 825654 at *10 (No. 92605-1, March 2, 2017), (citing *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551, 125 S.Ct. 1183, 161 L.Ed.2d 1 (2005); *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48, 130 S.Ct. 2011, 176 L.Ed.2d 825 (2010); *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460, 132 S.Ct. 2455, 2464, 183 L.Ed.2d 407 (2012)). In *Houston-Sconiers*, the Court declined to consider whether the automatic decline statute remains constitutional because, under the circumstances of

that case, finding the statute unconstitutional would afford the petitioners no additional relief. ___ Wn.2d ___, 2017 WL 825654 at 10.

The circumstances presented in Saloy's case are different than those before this Court in *Houston-Sconiers*. Should this Court determine the automatic decline statute is unconstitutional, and the other two prongs of the test satisfied, dismissal of the charges, rather than remand for a new sentencing hearing, would be required. *Oppelt*, 172 Wn.2d at 288-89; Slip Op. at 23.

The Court of Appeals held that *Miller* did not necessitate a finding that RCW 13.04.030 violates the Eighth Amendment. Slip Op. at 27. In doing so it failed to appreciate that, as the dissent in Division II pointed out in *State v. Houston-Sconiers*, "the declining of juvenile court jurisdiction faces the defendant with a much harsher world of potential punishment." 191 Wn. App. 436, 452, 365 P.3d 177 (2015) (Bjorgen, J. dissenting). As the Court of Appeals previously recognized "[t]he penalty, rather than the criminal act committed, is *the* factor that distinguishes the juvenile code from the adult criminal justice system." *State v. Kuhiman*, 135 Wn. App. 527, 531, 144 P.3d 1214 (2006) (quoting *State v. Schaaf*, 109 Wn.2d 1, 7-8, 743 P.2d 240 (1987)) (emphasis added).

Given that punishment is the only factor that distinguishes these two systems, the automatic decline statute cannot stand in light of the

foundational principle articulated in *Miller*, *Graham*, and *Roper*, that a court may not impose the most severe penalties on juvenile offenders without regard for the fact that they are children. *Miller*, 567 U.S. at ___, 132 S.Ct. at 2466. Because the automatic decline statute is unconstitutional, Saloy can demonstrate prejudice.

- b. A weighing of the State's reasons for the delay against the significant prejudice to Saloy demonstrates that fundamental conceptions of justice were violated by the prosecution.

Once the defendant establishes prejudice, the burden shifts to the State to justify the delay. *State v. McConnell*, 178 Wn. App. 592, 606, 315 P.3d 586 (2013). Here the State's delay was unjustified, given the information it had in its possession before his eighteenth birthday. Pretrial Ex. 1 at 23, 26-27. Balancing the State's reasons for the delay against the considerable prejudice to Saloy, fundamental conceptions of justice are violated. *Oppelt*, 172 Wn.2d at 292; *Mooney*, 294 U.S. at 112. This issue presents a significant constitutional question that is of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4). This Court should grant review.

4. This Court should grant review because Saloy was denied a fair trial when the deputy prosecutors suggested defense counsel acted unethically.

A prosecutor is obligated to perform two functions: "enforce the law by prosecuting those who have violated the peace and dignity of the state" and serve "as the representative of the people in a quasijudicial

capacity in a search for justice.” *State v. Monday*, 171 Wn.2d 667, 676, 257 P.3d 551 (2011). Because the defendant is among the people the prosecutor represents, the prosecutor “owes a duty to defendants to see that their rights to a constitutionally fair trial are not violated.” *Id.*; see also *Berger v. United States*, 295 U.S. 78, 88, 55 S. Ct. 629, 79 L.Ed. 1314 (1935); U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, §§ 3, 22.

The prosecutors violated this duty when they improperly suggested, through their direct questioning of three witnesses, that defense counsel had acted unethically. Three Central District gang members testified for the State, but only one cooperated with questioning on the stand. 7/21/14 RP 125, 155; 7/22/14 RP 14. The prosecuting attorney asked the uncooperative witnesses, but not the cooperative witness, if he recalled a visit from defense counsel. Ex. 103 (Graves at 1, Jimerson at 3). The only purpose served by these questions was to suggest to the jury that the witnesses were uncooperative *because* they had been in contact with defense counsel.

When the Court of Appeals rejected the suggestion that these suggestions impugned defense counsel, it misapprehended Saloy’s argument. Slip Op. at 14, 16. The Court of Appeals claimed “Saloy contends that the prosecutor’s questions suggested Saloy’s counsel had acted unethically by visiting only the uncooperative witnesses.” Slip Op.

at 14. The implication was not that defense counsel had acted unethically by visiting only some of the witnesses, but that she had acted unethically by influencing some of the witnesses' testimony. The Ninth Circuit has reversed in similar circumstances. *Bruno v. Rushen*, 721 F.2d 1193, 1194 (9th Cir. 1983). This raises an issue of substantial public interest and this Court should grant review. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

5. The prosecutor's improper comment on Saloy's exercise of his constitutional right not to testify was not harmless and this Court should grant review.

The prosecutor improperly commented on Saloy's right not to testify during closing argument. 8/6/14 RP 64. The Court of Appeals found the deputy prosecuting attorney's statement constituted constitutional error but that the error was harmless, narrowly defining what evidence was tainted by the improper comment. Slip Op. at 18. When the State commented on Saloy's decision not to testify, it emphasized to the jurors that he had not taken the stand to dispute the wire recording and signaled they could use Saloy's silence against him. The error was not harmless and this Court should grant review in the substantial public interest. *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 22, 87 S.Ct. 824, 827, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967); RAP 13.4(b)(4).

6. This Court should grant review because the trial court erroneously admitted photographs and images, a taped “monologue,” and evidence that Saloy urinated on the site of the shooting.

In *State v. DeLeon*, our supreme court recently “urge[d] courts to use caution when considering generalized gang evidence,” as this “evidence is often highly prejudicial, and must be tightly constrained to comply with the rules of evidence.” 185 Wn.2d 478, 491, 374 P.3d 95 (2016). As in *DeLeon*, extensive gang evidence was introduced by the State against Saloy at trial, including 59 photographs and images that suggested Saloy was affiliated with a gang and a video recording of Saloy in which he referenced a rival gang and one of the victims. *Id.*; 5/27/14 RP 113. They were emotionally charged images designed to elicit an emotional reaction from jurors rather than prove the existence of any fact. *State v. Weaville*, 162 Wn. App. 801, 818, 256 P.3d 426 (2011). This evidence should have been excluded. *State v. Beadle*, 173 Wn.2d 97, 120, 265 P.3d 863 (2011); ER 403. In addition, evidence of Saloy urinating at the site of the shooting was irrelevant and unfairly prejudicial. *Id.*

Although each erroneous admission of evidence supplies a stand-alone basis for reversal of Saloy’s convictions, at a minimum their cumulative effect at trial created material prejudice that denied Saloy a fair trial. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 3; *Williams v. Taylor*, 529

U.S. 362, 396-98, 120 S.Ct. 1495, 146 L.Ed.2d 389 (2000) (considering the accumulation of trial counsel's errors in determining that defendant was denied a fundamentally fair proceeding); *Taylor v. Kentucky*, 436 U.S. 478, 488, 98 S.Ct. 1930, 56 L.Ed.2d 468 (1978) (concluding that "the cumulative effect of the potentially damaging circumstances of this case violated the due process guarantee of fundamental fairness").

The issue presented is one of substantial public interest and this Court should accept review. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

E. CONCLUSION

For all of the reasons stated above, this Court should grant review of the Court of Appeals opinion affirming D'Angelo Saloy's convictions.