RECEIVED VIA PORTAL

NO. 94319-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

D'ANGELO A. SALOY,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW AND CROSS-PETITION

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

AMY R. MECKLING Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The State asks this Court to deny Saloy's petition for review. If this Court accepts review, the State seeks cross-review of the Court of Appeals' conclusions that: (1) the prosecutor's statement during closing argument directly commented on Saloy's right not to testify, and thus the applicable harmless error standard is the "overwhelming untainted evidence" test; and (2) Saloy timely objected to the prosecutor's allegedly improper statement.

IV. INTRODUCTION AND STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Saloy committed first-degree murder and first-degree attempted murder at the age of sixteen. 7/31/14 RP 15-16. In October of 2008, fifteen-year-old Quincy Coleman was shot and killed while standing near the Garfield High School ballfields. 7/21/14 RP 69; 7/22/14 RP 23-28. Coleman's friend Demario Clark was also shot, but survived his wounds. 7/15/14 RP 33-35, 124-26; 7/22/14 RP 26.

Coleman was wearing red, the color typically associated with his Central District gang, Valley Hood Piru. 7/17/14 RP 93, 121-22, 163; 7/21/14 RP 21, 25.

The police had very little physical evidence and encountered extremely limited cooperation from those involved. See CP 296-373; Pretrial Ex. 1. Because of this, the State was unable to amass sufficient evidence to charge Saloy with Coleman's murder until he was twenty years old. Indeed, prior to Saloy's eighteenth birthday, there was no physical evidence linking him to the crime and no eyewitnesses who identified him. The only information police had that Saloy was involved in the murder was information that Saloy had bragged about the shooting to two of his associates, neither of whom were present during the crime, one of whom initially disbelieved Saloy, and the other who provided no detail by which to substantiate Saloy's alleged statements. CP 305-09; Pretrial Ex. 1, at 23, 26-27.

Later however, special agents from the Department of
Homeland Security received information from the mother of one of
Saloy's gang associates that her son had information about a murder.
Due to pressure from those federal authorities regarding the family's
immigration status, Saloy's associate ultimately agreed to be
interviewed by Seattle Police detectives. CP 310; Pretrial Ex. 1, at 29.
After advising the detectives that Saloy had admitted his involvement

in Coleman's murder to him, the associate agreed to participate in a judicially-authorized recording operation. CP 296-317; Pretrial Ex. 1, at 29. While being surreptitiously recorded, Saloy confessed to his associate that he had murdered Coleman and provided significant detail about the shooting and how it had occurred. Ex. 48, 49, 50, 51; Pretrial Ex. 1, at 30; 7/28/14 RP 59-68, 71-83, 87-102.

A jury found Saloy guilty of first-degree murder with a firearm enhancement for the shooting death of Coleman. CP 584-85, 678-79. The jury also convicted Saloy of first-degree attempted murder with a firearm enhancement for shooting Clark. CP 584-85, 680-81. Although both counts also included the allegation that Saloy committed the crimes for the benefit of a criminal street gang, the jury was unable to reach a unanimous verdict as to the gang aggravators. CP 584-85, 883, 685. On September 10, 2014, the trial judge imposed a standard-range sentence of 719 months imprisonment. CP 687-89.

In an unpublished decision, the Court of Appeals affirmed Saloy's convictions, but remanded for a new sentencing hearing in light of this Court's intervening decision in <u>State v. Ramos</u>, 187 Wn.2d 420, 387 P.3d 650 (2017), which concluded that juvenile defendants facing "de facto" life sentences are constitutionally entitled to an individualized sentencing hearing that fully explores the impact of the

defendant's youthfulness on the sentence rendered. <u>See Saloy</u>, Slip. Op. at 27-30. The State agrees that <u>Ramos</u> requires Saloy to be resentenced, and does not seek further review of the Court of Appeals' conclusion to that effect.

For the reasons outlined below, this Court should reject Saloy's petition for review. If the court accepts review, the State requests that the court also accept review of several of the Court of Appeals' conclusions regarding an allegedly improper statement made during the prosecutor's closing argument.

V. ARGUMENT

A. THE COURT SHOULD DENY THE PETITION FOR REVIEW.

RAP 13.4(b) governs consideration of a petition for review. It provides that a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The State's briefing in the Court of Appeals adequately addresses the substantive issues presented for review. For the following reasons, review should be denied.

Saloy's Privacy Act claim involves only the fact-specific question of whether the application for the one-party consent recording contained sufficient particularized information to justify authorization. In his petition for review of this issue, Saloy merely rehashes the same arguments rejected by the Court of Appeals when it concluded that the affidavit carefully described the unique difficulties the detectives had in obtaining reliable evidence in Saloy's case. The Court of Appeals did not "carve[] out an exception to the Privacy Act for gang-related cases." In fact, it specifically rejected Saloy's contention that the authorizing judge "simply relied on the assumption that because the crime was gang-related, nobody would be willing to testify." Saloy, Slip Op. at 9-10. Also, based on specific detail contained in the affidavit, the Court of Appeals rejected Saloy's assertion that the State sought to obtain the recording merely to obtain an advantage at trial. ld. at 11. In sum, the Court of Appeals' holding entirely relied on the individualized statements of fact contained in the affidavit, did not alter settled law in any manner, and the issue is not one of substantial public interest.

¹ Pet. for Review at 9.

Similarly, Saloy's claims relating to: (1) alleged misrepresentations and omissions in the wire recording application; (2) the State's reasons for delay in charging; and (3) the trial court's resolution of multiple evidentiary issues are based solely on the distinct facts of Saloy's case. Because the Court of Appeals properly resolved all of these questions on the specific details involved, they do not raise any issue of substantial public interest and review should be denied.

Finally, because Saloy was twenty years old at the time he was charged with Coleman's murder and was not charged pursuant to the "automatic decline statute," this case does not present a proper vehicle for a determination of the constitutionality of RCW 13.04.030(1)(e)(v). Review should be denied.

B. IF THE COURT ACCEPTS REVIEW, THE COURT SHOULD ALSO REVIEW SEVERAL CONCLUSIONS OF THE COURT OF APPEALS RELATING TO SALOY'S CLAIM OF PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT IN CLOSING ARGUMENT.

The Court of Appeals concluded that the prosecutor committed misconduct in closing argument by improperly commenting on Saloy's right not to testify. Saloy, Slip Op. at 17-18. Nonetheless, the court concluded beyond a reasonable doubt that the improper comment did not affect the verdict. Id. at 18-19.

If review is accepted, the State seeks cross-review of the Court of Appeals' conclusion that the prosecutor's statement during closing argument directly commented on Saloy's right not to testify. Moreover, because the prosecutor's statement, if error, at most "touched" on a constitutional right, the Court of Appeals erroneously applied the strict constitutional harmless error standard. Finally, the Court of Appeals erred by concluding that Saloy timely objected to the prosecutor's allegedly improper statement. Should this Court accept the petition for review, it should accept review of these issues as well.

As outlined in the briefing below, the entire context of the prosecutor's argument makes clear that her statement was not intended to be a comment on Saloy's right to remain silent, and the jury would not have naturally and necessarily interpreted the statement as such. State v. Barry, 183 Wn.2d 297, 306-07, 352 P.3d 161 (2015); State v. Brown, 132 Wn.2d 529, 561, 940 P.2d 546 (1997). Therefore, the statement was not a direct comment on the defendant's failure to testify; at most it "touched" on a constitutional right and the constitutional harmless error standard of review does not apply. State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 757, 278 P.3d 653 (2012) (citing State v. Easter, 130 Wn.2d 228, 242, 922 P.2d 1285 (1996)); State v. French, 101 Wn. App. 380, 385-86, 4 P.3d 857 (2000) (citing State v. Belgarde, 110 Wn.2d 504, 507-08, 755 P.2d 174 (1988)).

Furthermore, Saloy did not raise a timely objection to the prosecutor's statement and the court had no ability to cure any error with a proper instruction. <u>French</u>, 101 Wn. App. at 387. Thus, the proper harmless error standard is whether the remark was so flagrant and ill-intentioned to be incurable with an instruction. <u>State v. Klok</u>, 99 Wn. App. 81, 84, 992 P.2d 1039 (2000).

The provisions of RAP 13.4(b) are inapplicable because the State is not seeking review, and believes that review by this Court is unnecessary. However, if the Court grants review, in the interests of justice and full consideration of the issues, the Court should also grant review of the above issues relating to Saloy's claim of prosecutorial misconduct. RAP 1.2(a); RAP 13.4(d); RAP 13.7(b).

VI. CONCLUSION

For all of the above reasons, this Court should deny the petition for review. If this Court accepts review, the State seeks review of the above-outlined conclusions of the Court of Appeals relating to the prosecutor's allegedly improper statement during closing argument.